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The East Nashville Historic District, located two miles east northeast of the center
of downtown Nashville, is a middle class residential area developed during the late nine-
teenth and early twentieth centuries. The vast majority of the 352 buildings in the dis-
trict are single family houses, with small. scale multi-family buildings, several churches,
a school, and a corner store making up the balance. Though the district is in an area of
town that has experienced typical urban decline since World War |1, the district itself is
largely intact, having suffered less abuse and demolition than other areas nearby. The
district contains:24 non-contributing structures and 5 vacant lots. The declining trend

has begun to reversﬁ in recent years and two active neighborhood associations are working in
the district. ‘ o ' ‘ o ' o ‘

The district occupies the major part of twenty-two rectangular blocks laid out on
gently rolling terrain east of Gallatin Road as it heads northeast away from town. The
district's basic borders are Eastland Avenue at the north, South 16 and South 14 Streets
at the east, Fatherland Street at the south, and South 11 Street and Gallatin Road at the
west. These streets tend to form natural boundaries but the irregular district line was
drawn to include specific significant buildings or groups of buildings and to exclude areas
of recent demelition and development.

Though.the district contains examples of the variety of changing architectural fashion
during its fifty year span of development, it is primarily characterized by buildings of #he
twentieth century, especially those characterized by the taste for Neoclassical architectiure
current in the early years of the century. The location of houses of various styles roughly
corresponds to the sequence of subdivision in the district, beginning in 1875 with thexblocks.‘
south of Woodland Street and progressing northeast to Edgewood Place and Eastland Avenue
where subdivision occurred between 1901 and 1921. Most of the Victorian houses in,the
district are south of Woodland Street and bungalows and later houses predominate jalong
Edgewood Place, Eastland Avenue, and parts of Stratton Avenue. In between is a stylistic
mix with houses of a Neoclassical flavor in the majority.

Buildings in the district break down into three basic stylistic categories discussed
in turn below: late Victorian, Neoclassical, and Bungalow and later houses, all of which are
structures contributing to the architectural‘ chardcter of the district. A foirth category,
non-contributing buildings,will be discussed last. Contributing structures art those at
least fifty years ald which possess enough of their architectural integrity to contribute to
the historic character of the district. Even though a building may have lost through neglect
or abuse some of its architectural Integrity, it has been listed as contributing, if it
contributes even minimally to the character of the district. The non-contributing category
includes buildings obviously less than fifty years old and also includes a few buildings
which ‘have been altered so extensively that they no longer make a cantribution tQ the his-
toric architectural character of the district. .

‘ Most 6f thé district's Victorian buildings are modest houses from the late years of the
era and are difficult to characterize exactly as to style. There are several one story
weatherboard cottages with latheturned woodwork on the porch, a vernacular interpretation of
the Queen Ann style. A typical example is the house at 211 South 11th St. (phoFo #1, map #21

lts basic rectangular block is covered with a hip roof with a small gable set d:aggnally 9
the southwest corner. Larger gable projections are located at the north end of the stree
facade facing west and toward the .rear on the .south side. A porch with turned columns, ¥
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spindles and brackets rounds the corner connecting the two gabled projections. This
basic hip roof, corner porch form is repeated in Victorian houses and numerous later
houses as well (see below).
A

A house with the same basic form, only somewhat larger and considerably more or-
nate, is located at 1113 Holly St. (photo #2, map #52). This house, with its arched
front window, oriel and fish scale shingles in the gable end, and dentiled cornices,
fits more easily into the accepted outlines of the Queen Anne style. Another example
of the Queen Anne style is the two-story red brick house at 122 South 12th St. (photo
#3, map #13). Its basic arrangement, hip-roofed central block with gabled projections
on two sides, echoes that of the previous examples except that,at the northwest corner
of the hip-roofed section, a tower, circular in plan, rises to a full three stories
topped by a dome with a ball-shaped finial. This house has been neglected and allowed
to ‘deteriorate in recent years. It has lost its corner porch but retains the rest of
its basic outline and its slate roof with metal ridge caps and finial.

There are two houses in the district which can be called Eastlake in style. The
house at 1201 Holly Street (photo #4, map #54) was designed by Nashville architect Hugh
C. Thompson and built in 1889 as his residence. The one- and one-half story wooden
house has a "T" shapéd ‘ plan with a gabled roof. A square tower, rising to a full two
stories with a peaked roof, stands at the joining of the two wings of the house. lts
first story is open, providing sheltered access to the front door and access to the
porch which runs west from the tower across the front. The house is encrusted with
lathe-turned, scroll sawn, and gouged woodwork. Window facings, eave brackets, verge
boards, a band course between stories, and a canopy over the entrance are among the
heavily decorative details. The house as 1407 Stratton Avenue (photo #5, map #281) is
very similar in character to 1201 Holly Street. lts ground plan and arrangement of
entrance and front porch are almost identical, though it is a full two stories and is
consequently a larger house. |Its ornamental woodwork is very similar to that at 1201
Holly ‘Street though the porch with its chamfered square posts is visually much heavier.

Two institutional buildings, both built in 1903, fit into the late Victorian cate-
gory. The now vacant Blind Girls Home at 1301 Forrest Avenue (photo #6, map #129) is
like the cottage at 211 South 13th Street, a vernacular interpretation, in this case
somewhat belated, of higher style Victorian buildings. It is a two-story red brick
building irregular in plan with a hip roof and a high stone foundation. Tall, unadorned
segmentally arched windows punctuate the building's several facades at regular intervals]
An ample veranda runs around the south wing. Set on brick piers with open brickwork be-
tween them,the veranda has lathe-turned posts and a simple rail without further orna-
mental woodwork.

A more sophisticated design is that of East End United Methodist Church at 1212
Holly Street (photo #7, map #20). A loose interpretation of the Romanesque style, the
church sanctuary is a basic rectangle, built of red brick with stone trim on a high
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rock-faced stone basement containing Sunday school rooms. The main facade facing north

on Holly Street is reached by a flight of stone stairs offset to the west, providing a
visual balance to the substantial bell tower set at the northeast corner of the sanctuary.
The tower, square in plan, with a bellrcast-pedked roof and four smaller peaks, one at
each corner, resembles a medieval fortification with arrow slits somewhat more than a
traditional Romanesque bell tower. The main entrance is located at the center of the
gabled end of the sanctuary under a large,arched,stained glass window. The entrance is

sheltered by a metal canopy suspended from chains anchored in the wall. The gable roofline

is partially hidden behind an irregularly stepped, stone capped parapet, and the base of
the gable is marked on the facade by two parallel bands of stone set flush with the base
of the brick. Arched windows set between stone capped brick buttresses light the sanctuary
on either side. Low educational building additions project to the west and south at the
rear of the sanctuary. While not sympathetic to the character of the building, they do
little to impair the visual integrity of the sanctuary. The East End Church is a low-key
design, surprisingly elegant in its visual effects. It is the focal point of the Victorian
end of the district.

Around the turn of the century, as architectural taste began to swing away from the
variety of Victorian architecture toward Neoclassicism, the style of buildings being built
in East Nashville began to change in reflection of this changing taste. The transition
shows up here and there south of Woodland Street, but at Woodland the-:change of .taste be-
comes predominant. Typical of this is the cottage at 1302 Woodland (photo #8, map #73).
it is little different from the house at 211 South 11th Street in plan or basic form. The
major change is seen at the porch where the turned columns and spindle work have been
superseded by Tuscan columns and a simple classical cornice. On this house an attic win-
dow in a variation of the Palladian motif articulates the gable end facing Woodland Street.
Variations on this basic house with its hip roof, two gabled projections and a corner
porch with Necclassical detail are among the most numerous in the district. |t should be
stressed that the Neoclassical detail on these houses varies widely in its adherence to
academic standards, but the inspiration of these designs is in the fashion at the turn of
the century for Beaux Arts Classicism and the Colonial Revival. The house at 1302 Woodland
is a very simple house, but some were more ornate. The house at 111 South 13th Street
(photo #9, map #29) is an example with its dentiled cornices, pediment at the entrance,
and porch balustrade. The square boxed columns are a frequently seen variation on the
Tuscan columns. This house still has its standing seam roof and finials. Some of these
Neoclassical cottages retained hints of the Victorian era, bits of gingerbread in the
gable facing the street, for example, or, on the house at 1306 Calvin Avenue (photo #10,
map #219), a circular projection with a conical roof at the corner of the porch. The
house at 1206 Gartland Avenue (photo #11, map #137) has fluted boxed columns, another often
seen column variation and a bell-cast roofline, often seen on hip-roofed houses of the
period.

While the houses described above typify the corner-porch house type in this district,
there are some examples of more elaborate and large houses based on the same form. The
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house at 1200 Gartland (photo #12, map #134) is basically a hip-roofed rectangle with a
single gable toward the street which opens into a small second-floor balcony with a pedi-
mented porch supported by paired Tuscan columns. The main porch with paired columns curves
around one corner and has a pediment at either end. The house is in somewhat more sophis-
ticated dress than those described above but is still an essentially modest cottage.

The house at 604 North 14th Street (photo #13, map #305) is considerably larger but is
based on the same hip roof and gable plan with a porch that not only rounds the corner but
stretches all the way across the facade as well. Very slender Tuscan columns paired,
or grouped in threes at corners, sit on pedestals. The cornice is dentiled, and a pedi-
ment marks the entrance. Two large hip roof dormers, one at the front and a five-sided
one on the north side, make the attic a fully useable floor. The house has weatherboard
siding with shingles on the dormers and in the gable end. Another of these larger houses,
a bit more formal, is the brick house at 1403 Eastland {photo #14, map #322). Leaded
glass fills the transom and side lights at the front door, a traditional fan window is
in the attic light in the front gable end, and a bit of wrought iron cresting still deco-
rates the decked hip roof ridge. The boxed porch columns across the front are not original
but the porch resumes its original form on the side where casement sashes between the
columns make a sun room of what is usually open porch.

There are also several full two-story houses on the basic hip roof, corner porch
arrangement in the district. They are larger by virtue of the second story but otherwise
vary little from the modest cottages. A weatherboarded example is at 1309 Ordway Place
(photo #15, map #201) and a brick example at 1301 Gartland (photo #16, map #162).

Another type of Neoclassical cottage frequently found in the district is a one-story
house, more or less square in plan with a bell-cast hip roof rising to a single point.
Most often there is a hip-roofed dormer at the front, sometimes a dormer on all sides.
A typical example is the house at 1304 Stratton Avenue (photo #17, map #254) which has
weatherboard siding and a porch across the front with box columns and a very simple cor-
nice. A variation on this design is the brick house at 1201 Ordway Place (photo #18, map
#170) with its hipped projection at the east side of the facade and its porch offset to
the west side of the facade. Some of these houses have a porch which runs across the front
and rounds the corner running back along the side. Two examples of this type are 1204 Gart-
tand (photo #20, map #136) with its attenuated columns and 1215 Forrest Avenue (photo #19,
map #123) which has been converted to a duplex and now has a door cut through its bay
window.

More elaborate examples of this t

ype are found at 1213 Holly Street (photo #21. ma
fgS).and 1228 Gartiand (photo #22, map #138). The Holly Street house has hZavily de;ailzd
mi;:;sgstﬁgirpediTinged ent;y $orch at the front. The square fluted columns are currently

capitais at the front, but the side porch retains its compos i i

ite capitals.
Ihetg?rgland §Venue h?use has gab!ed rather than hip roof dormers. The gront dorger h:s a
entiled cornice forming a pediment with an oval] vent at its center. |ts two windows open
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onto a small balcony with turned balusters matching those on the porch below.

The two-story variation on this type house is called a four-square locally. In most
areas of town four-squares are found in greater number than the one-story variety. The
East Nashville district has fewer four-squares but does have some fine examples of the type.
A very simple example is the house at 1107 Ordway Place (photo #23, map #170), a brick
four-square with its original slate roof but without the usual dormers. A porch with fluted
square columns runs across the front. lts segmentally arched door and windows are reminis-~
cent of late Victorian houses and are not typical of the four-square type. A more typical
example of the four-square style is the house at 125 South 11th Street (photo #24, map#9).
Its first story is red brick on a stone foundation, and the second story is finished in
wood shingles. To the south side of the street facade is a flat-roofed entry porch support-'
ed by squared fluted columns with lonic capitals. Above it is a three-sided bay window and,
at the other side, also upstairs is a Palladian window. Windows and sidelights have deco-
rative diagonal panes. Two similar yet larger examples of the four-square are the wooden
houses at 1503 East Avenue (photo #25, map #330) and 1311 Ordway Place (photo #26, map
#202) . Another variation on the theme is the house at 116 South 12th Street (photo #27,
map #15). 1t has a slightly irregular plan with a multiple hip roof and a five-sided,
hip-roofed gable at the front. Rather than a porch across the. front, this house has an
entry porch recessed into the facade behind a squared opening framed by stone lonic col-
umns. The house is red brick on a stone foundation with stone window sills and belt
courses.

One rather unique house stands just across the street at 205 South 12th Street. This
one- and one-half-story weatherboard house is basically a rectangle with a hip roof and a
gable projecting near the rear on the south side. At the north corner of the front, a six-
sided room with a peaked roof emerges from the hip roof. Below and slightly to the north
is the front door sheltered by a large square hip roof porch with a dentiled cornice and
swags in relief on the frieze. A similar entablature crowns the paired first floor win-
dows to the south of the porch. The porch has lost its original lonic columns at the
front, but the half-columns against the wall of the house remain (photo #293, map #19).

‘There are -several multi-family houses in the four-square form in the district. The
house at 1115-1117 Forrest Avenue (photo #29, map #116) is a red brick building on a stone
foundation containing a flat on each floor. Its original slate roof with metal ridge
caps and finials is in place. There is a Tuscan-columned entry porch at either side of
the Forrest Avenue facade, one for each apartment. The house at 127 South 11th Street
(photo #30, map #8) is virtually identical except its entrances are recessed under arched
openings with stone impost blocks and keystones.

The Woodland Presbyterian Church (photo #31, map #110) and the East Branch of the
Nashville Public Library (photo #32, map #112) stand across South 11th Street from one
another at the intersection of South 11th Street, Gallatin Road, and Gartland Avenue.

They are both limestone sheathed buildings of Beaux Arts stylistic flavor and together are
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an impressive architectural presence at one of the major entrances to the neighborhood.

The Woodland Presbyterian Church was designed by Nashville architect C.K.Colley and
built in 1916. The building is rectangular with the principal entrance on the short end
facing east to Gallatin Road. Three pedimented doors are sheltered by a shallow Roman
Doric portico. The fluted columns support a Doric entablature with triglyphs and metopes
in the frieze and a pediment with a wreath in relief at its center. The entablature runs
around the entire building over which is a parapet which hides the gable roof. Rusticated
quoins embellish the building's corners. At the center of each of the building's flanks
is a projecting pavilion,its pilasters and pediment echoing the design of the entrance
porch. At this point on the roof is a metal Roman dome on an octagonal stone base. The
dome is strictly exterior decoration as it does not open to the interior.

The East Branch Library was designed by New York architect Albert Randolph Ross and
built in 1919, Mr. Ross had designed a numer of other Carnegie libraries, and this one
is typical of the type. The rectangular building sits on a high basement which is com-
pletely above grade at the rear. A projecting pedimented entrance pavilion at the center
of the north facade has an engaged pier and Tuscan column at each corner. The door is
set a half flight up from grade, between the basement and main floor levels, interrupting
the water table which rings the building atop the rusticated basement. The original front
door has been replaced by an aluminum and glass door of recent vintage. Rusticated pilas-
ters at all corners rise to an entablature with a projecting cornice which also rings
the building. A parapet sits above the cornice almost hiding the hip roof. The parapet
stairsteps over the entrance pediment, and an urn is set atop it at either corner of the
projecting pavilion.

Two blocks away at 122 South 11th Street is Fatherland Baptist Church (photo #33,
map #1). It also is somewhat Beaux Arts in style though less so than the previous two
buiidings. Built of beige brick on a stone foundation and trimmed with stone, the church
is basically a gable-roofed rectangle. It is an unusual design, not closely resembled by
any other church in Nashville. Brick pilasters with stone caps and bases ring the entire
building creating a temple-front effect on the pedimented east end of the building. The
pilasters articulate the facades into bays of equal width, three on the short end and
seven on the longer sides. On the south side, at the third bay from the rear, facing
Russell Street, is a square tower, one bay wide, rising to a full second story and topped
by a rather small, domed, eight-sided belfry with lonic pilasters framing each of its
sides. The main entrance is in the base of this tower framed by a pair of Tuscan columns
and a pediment. Sanctuary windows are arched, one t0 a bay, with narrower arched windows
paired in each corner bay. To the rear of the entrance tower is a two-storied educational
building under the same roof plane.

M.M.Ross School, built in 1907, is located at 1300 Ordway Place (photo #34 and #35,
map #184). It is a typical elementary school of the period: rectangular, two stories on
a high stone basement, built of beige brick and topped with a hip roof with a hipped
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dormer at the center of the main facade. Rusticated stone quoins run up the four corners
of the building and the corners of the projecting entrance bay. The entrance is a half
flight up from grade, recessed under a rusticated stone arch. Carved stone panels with
the name of the school and the date 1907 are located on the entrance bay. '

One building not Neoclassical in style but discussed with these buildings because of
its date is Hoosier's Pharmacy (photo #56, map #88) located at 1313 Woodland Street. Built
about 1910, it is a simple rectangular building of concrete blocks cast to resemble.rock-
faced stone. There is an apartment, presently unoccupied, on the second floor above the
store. This business has been in continuous operation at the intersection of Woodland
Street and South 14th Street since before this building was built. Now operated by its
third owner in over seventy years, the pharmacy has provided a continuity during years
of change and is something of an institution in the neighborhood.

The construction of bungalows began to replace the construction of Neoclassical-style
houses in the teens. The newer areas of the district, parts of Stratton and Eastland
Avenues, and all of Edgewood Place, contain the greatest concentration of bungalows.

Most are more or less in the Craftsman style, but their variety makes it difficult to
describe a single typical bungalow for the district. Most are rectangular in plan, have
a gable roof with its ends on either side, and a gabled dormer facing the street. Many
have bracketed eaves, and most have a large front porch, but porch supports vary widely.
They are finished in weatherboard, shingles, brick, stone, stucco, and combinations of
these materials.

The brick house at 1401 Eastland (photo #36, map #309) has a gabled front porch off-
set to one side. Its porch supports are square posts paired on brick piers. The house
at 1306 Eastland Avenue (photo #37, map #302) has a gabled roof which slopes low toward
the street forming the porch roof -and extends to the east to form a porte cochere. The
gabled dormer has very wide overhangs with brackets and a decorative truss-like verge
board. The house itself is brick. Wood shingles are the siding on the low arches of the
porch and porte cochere, which rest on battered stone piers. A similar house at 1305 Edge=
wood Place (photo #38, map #347) has weatherboard siding and a shed roof dormer. A few
bungalows turn their gable ends to the street, like the brick house at 1201 Eastland
Avenue (photo #39, map #315) which faces 12th Street. One of several stone bungalows -
stands at 1512 Stratton Avenue (photo #40, map #26). It has a hipped gable roof and its
main porch on the east side with a hipped gable entrance porch at the front door on the
north side. An unusual feature of this house, which it shares with several others in the
neighborhood but not with houses elsewhere in town, is the stone planter seen here as a
low wall running between several upright piers, from the entry porch over to the side
porch. The planter's upper edge takes the random line of the natural edges of the stone
as they were laid to form the planter. The effect is very pleasing and, with the excep-
tion of several other houses in its vicinity, unique in Nashville.

There are several other rather individual bungalows in the district, uniike the
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general patterns of bungalow design. The house at 1309 Edgewood Place (photo #41, map
#349) with its irregular plan, multiple hipped gables and front porch with an upward
curving eave is such a house. Another is the house at 1303 Edgewood Place (photo #42, map
#346) with its mulitiple hipped roof, large hip-roofed dormer, and large hip-roofed front
porch with sturdy Greek Doric columns.

Two bungalows in the district, unlike any others in Nashville, are richly detailed
in Neoclassical motifs. The house at 1511 Stratton Avenue (photo #43, map #295) is a fairly
typical red brick late bungalow with a hipped gable roof and a porch set into the south-
west corner of the house. Its unusual features are the two enormous eyebrow windows in
the roof with traditional fan light sash and the entrance canopy with its dentiled raking
cornice, supported by foliated modillions. The fan lights in the attic are echoed by
the fan light over the traditional six-panel door. Leaded glass work fills the side 1ights.

The house at 1500 Eastland Avenue (photo #44, map #313) is similar in plan, though
considerably larger, with an entrance at the center of the long side, a hipped gable roof
and a porch set into the corner of the house. At the entrance the eave of the roof sweeps
upward in a graceful curve to frame the dentiled segmental arched pediment, plain frieze,
and fluted Tuscan columns which frame the front door. The house is veneered with rough-
faced random stone with cut, finished stone used for water table, window sills and lintels
and other details like the surround for the oval window near the side porch.

The house at 1417 Eastland (photo #45, map #326) is too large to be considered a true
bungalow but evidences Craftsman-style influence in details like the hipped gables,
bracketed eaves, and battered porch columns., The large gable facing the street and the
large gabled dormer facing east are half-timbered, a treatment common to several of the
bungalows in the district.

Toward the late 1920s, the Craftsman style faded from fashion and bungalow design
changed. Specific revival styles, especially English Tudor, were applied to @ number of
modest middle class houses built in Nashville during this period, and several such houses
were built in the East Nashville district. The house at 1115 Ordway Place (photo #46,
map #189) is an example. Typically, the front porch is an arched entry, this particular
one trimmed in stone, and the larger porch is located on the side of the house. Brick is
mixed with half-timber as a finish material, and diamond-pane windows are used. The gable
roof is steeper on such houses than the typical bungalow.

The four-square continued in popularity during the teens and into the 1920s, and
four-squares were built with Craftsman style rather than Neoclassical detail. An example
is the house at 1200 Eastland Avenue (photo #47, map #297) which, aside from certain deco-
rative details, is virtually identical to the house at 125 South 11th Street. Battered
stone piers support the porch at this house rather than lonic columns, and there is no
Palladian window. A four-unit apartment house at 1300 Stratton Avenue (photo #49, map
#251) also shows the Craftsman influence on the four-square. Typically, the hip roof

’
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ridges are straight, replacing bell-cast roof of the earlier four-square, and there is a
porch across the front supported by battered wood columns on brick bases like those on a
great many Craftsman bungalows. The Craftsman influence can also be seen in the design
of a duplex (now a four-unit building) at 1410 Stratton Avenue (photo #48, map #260) .

The brick building has a high gabled roof. A second story emerges at the center of the
facade under a less steep roof, much like the shed-roof dormers of many gabled bungalows.
Craftsman-style gabled porches, one for each half of the house, are located at the east
and west sides of the facade.

Representative of the suburban period revival fashion of the 1920s is a Dutch Colonial
house at 1505 Eastland Avenue (photo #50, map #337). |Its stone first story is topped by
a gambrel roof with weatherboard siding in the gable ends and on full width dormers across
the front and back. At the center of the street facade the entrance is sheltered by a
gable canopy supported by modillion-like brackets.

Non-contributing structures are very few. Most are small, one-story houses or du--.
plexes built during the 1950s or 1960s. They rarely conform to the scale or lot placement
prevalent on the block, but most are very small and rather unobtrusive. Examples are
1201 Stratton Avenue (photo #52, map #270), 1210 Gartland Avenue (photo #53, map #138),
and 1301 Ordway Place (photo #5k, map #197). The Edgefield Masonic Lodge (photo #55, map
#306) is a much larger, more intrusive building; but since it sits on a rather lodge lot,
it does not crowd or overpower its neighbors.

Another type of non-contributing structure is an older building which has lost the
essentials of architectural character which would contribute to the streetscape. There
are three such buildings in the district, here represented by the house at 123 South 11th
Street, once virtually identical to the four-square next door (photo #24, map #9) . This
house has lost its porch, the first story has been covered with new brick, and the second
hidden by an duminum screen. An addition has been placed on the back. The front yard has
been excavated and paved for parking and a new entrance opened, a half flight down, into
what was the basement. While the house retains its original shape, its slate roof, and
much detail on either side, its 11th Street facade has been so altered that it can no
longer be said to contribute to the historic architectural character of the block. It
could be possible with careful renovation to bring this house, or the others in the dis~
trict like it, back to contributing status. But as it stands, it no longer makes a con-
tribution.
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Properties which contribute to the character of the district:

1.

Fatherland Baptist Church (built as Russell Street Presbyterian Church)
122 South 11 St, (1911): 1% story brick rand stone church building with bell
tower, Neoclassical decorative treatment. (Described in more detail above.)

120 South 11 St. (ca. 1890): 1 story weatherboard cottage, gable roof with gable
projection toward street, front porch, Craftsman style battered porch supports
not original.

118 South 11 St. {ca. 1900): 1 story weatherboard cottage, gable roof with gable
projection toward street, corner porch with Neoclassical detail.

116 South 11 St. (ca. 1909): 2 story brick four-square, hip roof with hip gable,
porch across the front with square corinthian columns.

114 South 11 St. (1910): 1 story brick cottage, hip roof with hip dormer, porch
across the front of Neoclassical detail.

131 South 11 St. (ca. 1890): 1 story cottage, non-original asbestos siding over
wood, gable roof with gable projection toward street, front porch with turned
columns and spindle trim, similar trim at eaves.

129 South 11 St. (ca. 1920): 13 story brick bungalow, gable ends on either side,
porch across the front, gable dormer, brick piers at.corners and typical battered
wood columns supporting the porch, leaded glass in front door and windows.

127 South 11 St. (1911): 2 story brick duplex resembling a four-square, hip roof,
recessed arched entry at either side of facade. (Described in more detail above.)

125 South 11 St. (ca. 1905): 2 story four-square brick and wood shingle siding,
entry porch with ornate corinthian columns. (Described in more detail above.)

121 South 11 St. (ca. 1905): 1 story brick house, hip roof with gable projections,

. corner. porch with Neoclassical.detail,-oval window of. stone keystones in:each gable

end, front yard leveled and paved for parking.

122 South 12 St. (ca. 1880): 2% story brick and stone Queen Anne style house, irreg-
ufar plan, front porch missing. (Described in more detail above.)

116 South 12 St. (1898): 2% story brick house with stone trim, like a four-square
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